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UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
vVer sus
NOREEN VENI SE ALEXI US,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court for the
Western District of Texas
(EP-93- CR-326- 2)

(January 11, 1995)

Bef ore GARWOOD, HI G3 NBOTHAM and DAVIS, Circuit Judges.”’
GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

Def endant - appel | ant Noreen Venise Alexius (Alexius) was
convicted, followng a jury trial, of one count of harboring an
escapee in violation of 18 U . S.C. § 1072 and one count of using a
false social security nunber in violation of 42 US C 8

408(a)(7)(B). Her sole conplaint on appeal is that the evidence is

Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions that
have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases on
the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess
expense on the public and burdens on the | egal profession.”
Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



insufficient to support her conviction for using a false social
security nunber. W affirm
Facts and Proceedi ngs Bel ow

Al exius was a federal correctional officer stationed at the
Federal Prison Canp in El Paso, Texas (FPC El Paso) from August
1989 to April 29, 1993. Wil e enployed at FPC El Paso, Al exius net
Patrick Whiting (Wiiting), an inmate serving a 120-nonth sentence
for possession with intent to distribute cocai ne base. Wi ti ng
escaped from FPC EI Paso on March 28, 1993, and remai ned at | arge
until July 1, 1993, when he and Alexius were arrested while in a
vehicle together outside of her Chicago, Illinois residence.? A
federal grand jury handed down a four-count indictnent against
Whiting and Alexius for crinmes related to Wiiting' s escape fromFPC
El Paso. The first count charged Witing with escaping from
federal custody in violation of 18 U S.C. § 751(a).2 The renmining
three counts charged Alexius with: (1) aiding and assi sting escape
inviolation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 752(a) (Count Two); (2) harboring and
concealing an escaped inmate in violation of 18 U S C § 1072
(Count Three); and (3) using a false social security nunber in
violation of 42 U.S.C. 8 408(a)(7)(B) (Count Four). Al exius noved
for a judgnent of acquittal at the close of the governnent's case
and again at the close of all the evidence. The district court
deni ed both notions. The jury found Al exius guilty of Counts Three

and Four but acquitted her of Count Two. On March 31, 1994, the

. Al exius resigned fromher job at FPC El Paso on April 29,
1993, and noved to her aunt's hone in Chicago in May 1993.

2 Whiting' s case was severed for trial
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district court sentenced Al exi us to concurrent eight-nonth terns of
i nprisonment and three year terns of supervised release on Counts
Three and Four.

At trial, a fornmer FPC El Paso inmate testified that he
observed Al exi us and Whiting having sexual intercourse in an enpty
roomin a prison dormtory building. Another fornmer FPC El Paso
inmate testified that, when he first net Wiiting upon arriving at
the prison, Wiiting told him "The cop down at the office, she's
m ne. You know, you keep your hands off of her. | don't even want
you talking to her." Oher wtnesses testified that they heard
runors that Witing and Al exi us had a sexual rel ationship. Alexius
testified that by early March 1993, she was aware that FPC El Paso
officials were investigating allegations that she was having a
sexual relationship with Wiiting. [In addition, telephone records
showed over four hundred collect tel ephone calls from FPC El Paso
t el ephones to Alexius's hone. Alexius admtted giving Wiiting her
honme tel ephone nunber but insisted that she only spoke to him
fifteen or twenty tines.?3 Alexius also admtted accepting a
collect call fromWiting at 3:19 a.m on March 28, 1993, shortly
bef ore he escaped.

On March 24, 1993, four days before Wiiting escaped from FPC
El Paso, Alexius rented an apartnent at the Desert Arrow Apartnents

in El Paso. She applied for the apartnent in her own nane and paid

3 Al exius stated that Wiiting was the only inmate to whom she
gave her unlisted hone tel ephone nunber. She testified that
Carolyn Davis, a friend staying with her at the tinme of these
calls, becane friendly with Wiiting and accepted collect calls
fromhim



the deposit and application fee with a personal check. The |ease
listed a nove-in date of March 28, 1993. Several w tnesses
identified Wiiting as a person they had seen at the apartnent
conplex, and an apartnent security guard testified that he saw
Whiting enter the apartnent rented by Al exius. Al exius denied that
Whiting was ever in the apartnent and deni ed ever having seen him
in the area. Tel ephone conpany records showed that fifty |ong-
di stance calls were placed fromthe tel ephone in the apartnent to
friends and rel atives of Whiting in April 1993 whil e Al exi us was at
wor K.

The records of El Paso Electric Conpany reflect that utility
service was established at the Desert Arrow apartnent on March 29,
1993, in the nane of Noreen Alexius with a social security nunber
of 322-64-0532.4 The account nunber assigned to this account was
1838-2405-03. Electric conpany records showthat, on the sane day,
a second account was established for the sane apartnent and was
assi gned an account nunber of 1838-2405-04. However, this account
was established under the nanme Allison Weeler with a social
security nunber of 359-41-2170. Social Security Adm nistration
records show that nunber 359-41-2170 was never issued to anyone.
It is the establishnment of this electric conpany account in the
nanme of Allison Weeler and with this fal se social security nunber

that forns the basis of the charge in Count Four.

4 Al exius's true social security nunber is 322-64-0132. This
one digit discrepancy between Al exius's social security nunber
and the records of the utility conpany nmay have been the result
of an innocent error and does not formthe basis of her
conviction on Count Four, as that count alleges the false nunber
gi ven was 359-41-2170.



Joseph Garibay (Garibay), an E Paso Electric Conpany
enpl oyee, testified that electrical service can be requested by
t el ephone and can be turned on by tel ephone after a deposit is
made. The governnent introduced a regi ster recei pt show ng that a
$70 deposit by check was nmade at 8:45 a.m on March 30, 1993, for
account nunber 1838-2405-03, the account in Alexius's nane.
However, the records of El Paso El ectric Conpany showed that this
deposit was applied to account nunber 1838-2405-04, the Allison
Wheel er account. The governnent introduced a March 30, 1993,
deposit card recording a $70 deposit in Allison Weeler's nane for
account nunber 1838-2405-03. (Garibay described a deposit card as
the recei pt issued upon collection of a deposit. In addition, an
El Paso El ectric Conpany docunent indicated that a security deposit
of $70 had been paid on March 30, 1993, for Allison Weeler.
Al t hough the account nunber on this docunent was originally 1838-
2405- 03, soneone changed the last digit froma three to a four.

Jenni fer Webster (Whbster), a hair dresser at Berlin Hair
Design in El Paso, was a friend of Alexius's as well as her hair
dresser. Webster testified that she provided Al exius with the nane
Wheeler and a social security nunber to help her establish
t el ephone service.® Wbster also stated that she told Alexius to
list Berlin Hair Design as a place of enploynent. Tel ephone

service was established at the Desert Arrow apartnent rented by

5 Webst er obtai ned tel ephone service for herself by the sane
means. She admtted that she established tel ephone service under
the nanme Kindrick Weeler, social security nunber 326-31-1243,
and a spouse naned Al lison whose social security nunber was
listed as 359-41-2170.



Al exius under the nane Allison Wweeler with Berlin Hair Design
listed as the place of enploynent and Al exius herself listed as a
ref erence. On cross-exam nation, defense counsel asked Webster
whet her it was "possi ble" that she actually called up the tel ephone

conpany and utility conpany and set up the services for Al exius.

Webster responded: "I mght have. | don't renenber."” On
redirect, Webster testified "I renenber giving her [Alexius] the
information and that's all." Wbster also testified that Al exius

confided in her that she was having an affair with an inmte and
that Al exius asked her "to visit [this] prisoner because she was
under investigation, and so that they wouldn't think she was doi ng
what ever she was doing." Wbster testified that she visited the
inmate at FPC El Paso and that Witing was the i nmate.

On direct exam nation, Alexius testified that she went to see
Webster to have her hair and nails done and nentioned that she was
having trouble getting through to either the electric conpany or
t he tel ephone conpany. Al exius stated that Wbster volunteered to
have both services set up for her. Al exius said that she gave
Webster the necessary informati on and t hat Webster arranged to have
the services set up for her "and she [ Wbster] took care of it for

ne. Alexius testified that she did not herself call the electric
conpany to set up service. She further testified that she first
realized that the tel ephone service was not in her nanme when she
received the calling cards in the first week of April, but she
stated that she did not take any action to correct the situation.
On cross-exam nation, Alexius stated that she called the electric

conpany herself and had service established in her own nane and



with her own social security nunber.® She then stated that she
asked Webster to drop off her deposit check at the el ectric conpany
because she was too busy to do it herself. Al exius denied asking
Webster to set up electric service under a fal se nane and stated
that Webster "nmust have m sunderstood the conversation we had."

Alexius testified that she rented the Desert Arrow apartnent
in anticipation of the arrival of Kellie Janes (Janes), a man she
met in Illinois in January 1992. Al exi us explained that she
started dating Janes in January 1992 and that he planned to cone
stay in El Paso for a period of tinme beginning on April 1, 1993.
On the Desert Arrow apartnent application, Alexius listed Terry
Jones as an additional occupant. Initially, Alexius told
i nvestigators that she rented the apartnent for her boyfriend Terry
Jones, a United States Arny sergeant assigned to Fort Bliss. Wen
investigators |earned that no such person existed, Alexius then
stated that Janes was actually Terry Jones. Alexius said that she
did not use Janes's nane on the rental application because she
feared that the officials investigating her relationship wth
Whi ting woul d question him

At trial, Janes testified that he used the alias Terry Jones
ny

because of problens wth previous girlfriends: ve had

relationships with two individuals at one tine . . . and | used

the sane nane so that | wouldn't get caught up. Janes testified

6 When asked if this statenent contradi cted her testinony on
direct exam nation that Wbster volunteered to set up both

t el ephone and electric service, Alexius stated: "Well, | had
asked her about the phone. Now that ny nenory has been jolted,
since that was a year ago, | renenber that | did call the

El ectric Conpany, and | did have service set up in ny nane."
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that he originally planned to fly to El Paso on March 28, 1993, but
deci ded to drive because of financial difficulties, thus postponing
his arrival until April 2, 1993. Janes testified that he returned
to Chicago after one week because he did not |ike EIl Paso and did
not see Alexius again until June 1993 when she returned to
Chi cago. ’

Alexius testified that she called Witing's famly severa
tinmes after his escape to learn if they had heard from him  She
al so admtted receiving several calls fromhimafter his escape but
insisted that she urged him to turn hinmself in during these
conversations. Alexius testified that she never told Witing where
she was living in Chicago and that she first saw Witing when he
arrived at her Chicago residence sone fifteen mnutes before their
arrest on June 1, 1993.

Di scussi on

The sole point of error Alexius raises in this appeal is the
sufficiency of the evidence supporting her conviction for using a
false social security nunber in violation of 42 US C 8§
408(a)(7)(B). In reviewing challenges to the sufficiency of the
evi dence, we reviewthe evidence, whether direct or circunstantial,
inthe light nost favorable to the jury verdict. United States v.
Nguyen, 28 F.3d 477, 480 (5th Cr. 1994). Al credibility
determ nations and reasonable inferences are to be resolved in
favor of the verdict. 1d. W hold the evidence sufficient if we

conclude that a rational trier of fact could have found therefrom

7 Al exi us and Janes were narried on Decenber 3, 1993, siXx
weeks before her trial.



the essential elenents of the crine beyond a reasonabl e doubt.
United States v. Villasenor, 894 F.2d 1422, 1425 (5th Cr. 1990).
In making such a determnation, "[i]t is not necessary that the
evi dence exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence or be
whol Iy inconsistent with every conclusion except that of guilt.”
United States v. Bell, 678 F.2d 547, 549 (5th Cr. 1982)(en banc),
aff'd on other grounds, 103 S.Ct. 2398 (1983).

In order to obtain a conviction for using a false socia
security nunber in violation of 42 U S . C. 8§ 408(a)(7)(B), "the
gover nment nust prove "that defendant (1) for any purpose, (2) with
intent to deceive, (3) represented a particular social security
account nunber to be his or another person's, (4) which
representation was false.'" United States v. Shively, 927 F.2d
804, 809 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 111 S. C. 2806 (1991)(quoting
United States v. Darrell, 828 F.2d 644, 647 (10th Gr. 1987)). On
appeal, Alexius argues that the governnent failed to prove both
t hat she was the person who fal sely represented the social security
nunber to El Paso El ectric Conpany and that she i ntended to decei ve
anyone.

Al exius does not dispute that soneone established utility
service for her Desert Arrow apartnent under the nane of Allison
Wheeler with a fal se social security nunber; rather, she nmaintains
that the governnent failed to prove that she personally set up the
account. The governnent's case agai nst Al exius was based | argely
on circunstantial evidence, nmuch of which indicated that Al exius
had hi dden Whiting in the Desert Arrow apartnment after his escape

from FPC EIl Paso. Based on this evidence, the jury found Al exius



guilty of Count Three, a finding Al exius does not contest in this
appeal .

At trial, the jury heard Webster's testinony that she provided
Alexius with the Weeler nanme and a fal se social security nunber
for her to use in setting up tel ephone service. Wbster herself
had previously used fal se social security nunber 359-41-2170, the
nunber given for Alexius's electric conpany account established in
t he nane Wheeler. On cross-exam nation, Wbster stated that she
did not renenber whether it was possible she called the utility
conpany and set up service for Al exius. However, on redirect,
Webster testified that she did not know the address of Alexius's
apartnent and that all she renenbered was giving Alexius the
i nformati on. The jury also heard Alexius testify on direct
exam nation that she never called the utility conpany to set up
service and that it was Webster who set up both the utility service
and tel ephone service for her apartnent. On cross-exam nation
however, Alexius stated that she had called the electric conpany
and set up service in her own nane. Having heard all this
testinony, the jury could reasonably infer that it was Al exi us who
establ i shed service using the fal se social security nunber. See,
e.g, United States v. Zuniga, 18 F.3d 1254, 1260 (5th Gr.), cert.
denied, 115 S. C. 214 (1994) ("Although both versions nmay be
pl ausible, it is within the sole province of the jury as the fact
finder to decide the credibility of the witnesses and to choose
anong reasonabl e constructions of evidence.") (citation omtted).
Accordingly, we hold that the governnent presented sufficient

(t hough perhaps barely sufficient) evidence to prove that Al exius
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was the person who established the account using the fal se social
security nunber.

Al exi us al so argues that the governnent failed to prove that
she intended to deceive anyone given that she openly rented the
apartnent in her own nane. Considering that Alexius knew prison
officials were investigating her relationship with Whiting at the
time of his escape, the jury could reasonably infer that Al exius
suspected she m ght cone under scrutiny in the effort to recapture
Whiting and thus had a reason to hide as nmany details about the
Desert Arrow apartnment as possible. The governnent argued that
Al exi us had to give her true nane and social security nunber in the
application for the apartnent because this information was subj ect
to verification. |In other words, she would not be able to rent the
apartnent unl ess her application was approved. However, an El Paso
El ectric Conpany official testifiedthat a custoner coul d establish
utility service without providing identification. Therefore, the
governnment asserted that Al exius concealed the l|location of the
apartnent to the extent possible. The jury heard evidence from
which it could reasonably infer that Al exius sought to hide her
wher eabout s. W find that the governnent produced sufficient
evidence to prove that Alexius intended to deceive soneone in
knowi ngly using a false social security nunber to obtain a new
utility service account in the nane Weeler at the Desert Arrow
apartnent.

Concl usi on
For the reasons stated above, Alexius's conviction is

AFFI RVED.
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